#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-1930

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

#### EUGENE MICHAEL BYARS,

Respondent.

## ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO
Assistant Attorney General
Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau
Florida Bar No. 656879

MELYNDA L. MELEAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 765570 1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd., Third Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 688-7759

#

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS, BECAUSE THE RESTRAINING ORDER ENJOINING RESPONDENT FROM ENTERING THE STRUCTURE WITHDREW THE CONSENT TO BE ON THE PREMISES OTHERWISE ENJOYED BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC.
CONCLUSION
CEPTIFICATE OF SERVICE _ 13 _

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited	Page Number
Commonwealth v. Majeed, 694 A. 2d 336 (Penn. 1997) .	8 -
Corn v. State, 332 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1976)	6 -
Miller v. State, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1999)	4 -
People v. Smith, 943 P. 2d 31 (Col. App. 1997)	9, 11 -
State v. Gotur, WL 568032 (Wash. App. 1997)	9 -
State v. Kutch, 951 P. 2d 1139 (Wash. App. 1998)	7 -
State v. Ocean, 546 P. 2d 150 (Or. App. 1975)	10 -
State v. Peck, 539 N.W. 2d 170 (Iowa 1995)	9 -
State v. Suarez-Mesa, 662 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 199	5) 8 -
State v. Thompson, WL 1335211 (Wash. App. 2000)	7 -
State v. Woods, 624 So. 2d 739 (Fla. $5^{th}$ DCA 1993) .	6 -
Statutes Cited	
Section 784 07 (2). Florida Statutes	– 9 –

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellant in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District. Respondent, EUGENE MICHAEL BYARS, was the Respondent in the trial court and the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R." designates the original record on appeal, and the symbol "T." designates the transcript of the trial court proceedings. The symbol "A." designates the Appendix to this brief.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged in an indictment with first degree murder, armed burglary of an occupied structure with assault and battery, violation of repeat violence injunction, and possession of a firearm with altered serial number (R. 1-2). Respondent moved to dismiss the burglary charge, Count II, because he claimed that the undisputed facts did not establish a prima facie case (R. 3-4). After a hearing, the trial court granted the motion to dismiss (R. 12).

The State appealed the motion to dismiss to the Fourth District Court of Appeal. The majority affirmed the dismissal of the burglary charge, holding that the decision in <u>Miller v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1988) required that the fact that the structure was open to the public be considered a complete defense to burglary, notwithstanding that Respondent was enjoined from entering the premises (A. 1-2).

The State filed a motion asking the Fourth District to certify the issue presented in this case as one of great public importance. The Fourth District complied, certifying the following question before this court:

DOES A RESTRAINING ORDER ENJOINING A DEFENDANT FROM ENTERING A STRUCTURE WITHDRAW THE CONSENT ENJOYED BY MEMBERS OF THE GENERAL PUBLIC FROM ENTRY INTO THE STRUCTURE, THEREBY PREVENTING THE DEFENDANT FROM RAISING THE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC DEFENSE RECOGNIZED IN MILLER V. STATE, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1998)?

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent was charged with the first degree murder of Kathleen Kincaid (R. 2). For two and a half years prior to her death, Ms. Kincaid worked at a children's consignment shop, Over the Rainbow, which is owned by Brenda Pickerall (T. 12-14). The business is open to the public Monday through Friday from 10:00 to 5:30 (T. 12).

Ms. Pickerall testified at the hearing that Ms. Kincaid had an injunction against Respondent on the date of her murder, indicating that Ms. Kincaid was separated from Respondent (T. 15). She said that the injunction precluded Respondent from coming into the store (T. 16). Identifying State's Exhibit One, Ms. Pickerall said that she also had a restraining order against Respondent on the date in question (T. 16-17). The injunction was issued pursuant to section 784.06, Florida Statutes, and prohibited Respondent from going to, in, or within 500 feet of Ms. Pickerall's place of employment (R. 17-21). Ms. Pickerall said that she had also told Respondent before and after obtaining the restraining order not to come into the store (T. 19).

On the date in question, September 17, 1998, the store opened at 10:00 a.m., and Ms. Kincaid had punched in at 9:15 a.m. (T. 20-21). Ms. Pickerall arrived at the store just before noon (T. 21). As she was walking in the parking lot to the store, she

heard what sounded like a gun shot (T. 21, 23). She stated that one of her customers ran out of the store yelling that someone had been shot (T. 24-25). Inside, Ms. Pickerall found Ms. Kincaid on the ground in front of the register barely breathing (T. 26).

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting the motion to dismiss the burglary charge. Respondent's showing that the shop which he entered to shoot the victim was open to the public did not serve as a complete defense to burglary since the State showed that Respondent was not a member of the general public entitled to enter the shop, for an injunction precluded Respondent's entry there.

Indeed, the facts presented in the motion to dismiss established that Respondent no longer had the privilege of entering the shop for any purpose because there was a court ordered injunction in effect prohibiting Respondent from having any contact with the victim, including at her place of employment. In other words, despite the shop being open to the general public, it was not open to Respondent at the time he entered it with the intent to commit violence therein.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING RESPONDENT'S MOTION TO DISMISS, BECAUSE THE RESTRAINING ORDER ENJOINING RESPONDENT FROM ENTERING THE STRUCTURE WITHDREW THE CONSENT TO BE ON THE PREMISES OTHERWISE ENJOYED BY MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC.

Relying on <u>Miller v. State</u>, 733 So. 2d 955 (Fla. 1999), the trial court apprehensively granted Respondent's motion to dismiss, because it determined that the defense's showing that the consignment store was open to the public at the time of the shooting was a complete defense to the burglary charge (T. 46, 49-50). It acknowledged that the State had a persuasive argument that Respondent did not have consent from the onset to enter the consignment shop, but determined that <u>Miller</u> was controlling (T. 42-50). On appeal, the Fourth District agreed that <u>Miller</u> controlled, and held that although the result might be "untoward," the fact that the store was open to the public was the determinative matter in the case. On review, the State submits that the trial court was not bound by the ruling in <u>Miller</u> because the facts in <u>Miller</u> were unlike those in the instant case.

In <u>Miller</u>, the defendants entered a convenience store during operating business hours, approached the register, and pulled out guns, demanding money from the register. The State argued that any consent that the defendants had to enter the store was withdrawn due to the defendants' actions. This court rejected the contention that the State could show that the consent was withdrawn after the

defense established that the defendants permissibly entered the store because it was open to the public. It said that the showing of the store being open to the public was a complete defense and that a later withdraw of consent was irrelevant. This court reasoned that otherwise, any time a person entered a structure open to the public with the intent to commit a crime therein, he would have committed a burglary.

In the instant case, though, the State did not argue that the shop withdrew any consent after Respondent entered the premises. Rather, it contended that Respondent never had consent to enter the shop in the first place, for there were two outstanding injunctions against him for which he was aware, which prohibited him from entering the premises. The State maintains, therefore, that the exact reasoning in Miller is inapposite to this case.

In <u>Miller</u>, the privilege to enter the building as a member of the public was argued to have been withdrawn at the time of the defendant's criminal act. In this case, though, the State argues that any consent by virtue of Respondent's status in the public was completely withdrawn prior to his entry into the shop, so that he was not privileged to enter the building in the first instance.

Moreover, the <u>Miller</u> decision did not anticipate the argument presented in the instant case, that certain facts warrant a finding that a certain individual may not be deemed a member of the general public. In this case, the State maintains that the fact of two

restraining orders against Respondent, one obtained by the victim and one by the shop owner, precluded the application of the open to the public defense because Respondent was signaled out and specifically excluded from the general public.

The State argues that as part of the defense showing that a structure was open to the public, a defendant must show, or at least rebut a claim to the contrary, that he was a member of the public permitted entry into the establishment. This proposition finds support in case law holding that once a repeat shoplifter is barred from a store, he may be found guilty of burglary or trespass from entering the store during the restricted period. For instance, in <u>State v. Woods</u>, 624 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1993), the court upheld the defendant's conviction for trespass because it determined that the mall which the defendant had entered had previously given the defendant notice of a reasonable nondiscriminatory restriction for him not to return to the mall.<sup>1</sup>

The <u>Woods</u> court relied in part on the language in <u>Corn v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 332 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1976), in which the court upheld a trespass conviction against a man who returned to a mall after he had been asked to leave for behaving in a boisterous manner. The court stated that reasonable nondiscriminatory restrictions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trespass statute prohibits entering or remaining in a structure without being authorized, licensed, or permitted. <u>See</u> Section 810.08(1), Florida Statutes. The State believes that the term "authorized" includes being open to the public.

pertaining to the use of a commercial mall may be placed on users. It also stated that the public's invitation to use the mall can be limited and, on abuse, can be withdrawn or revoked. Its rationale, in part, was that the invitation to shop presupposes that the conduct of persons coming in will be in keeping with such purpose.

The State maintains that in this case, Respondent's invitation into the shop as a member of the public had been previously terminated. Moreover, it is clear that Respondent did not enter the children's consignment shop to look for clothes, but instead entered it to shoot the victim.

In <u>State v. Kutch</u>, 951 P. 2d 1139 (Wash. App. 1998), the court found that the defendant committed burglary when he entered a shopping mall with the intent to commit a crime therein. It focused on the fact that mall security had banned the defendant from entry into the mall for one year after a shoplifting incident. It stated that the defendant's invitation to be on the premises had been expressly limited and that the defendant had exceeded that limitation. <u>See also State v. Thompson</u>, WL 1335211 (Wash. App. 2000) (unpublished opinion) (evidence sufficient to support burglary conviction where defendant directed by security not to come back to mall and defendant reentered mall with the intent to commit a crime).

The State's argument with regard to the defense's showing that a structure is open to the public also finds support in case law

holding that even as an owner of the property in question, a defendant does not have the right to enter the property if an order restraining him from doing so is in existence. In <u>State v. Suarez-Mesa</u>, 662 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), the court ruled that a husband who has shared a house with his wife but has been restrained by court order from entering the property can be charged with burglary when he enters the premises to commit a crime. The court reasoned that a court order can negate a person's right to enter the premises, even if the person owns the premises.

A like result was reached in <u>Commonwealth v. Majeed</u>, 694 A. 2d 336 (Penn. 1997). The court in <u>Majeed</u> decided that although the defendant owned the residence, when he entered into a consent protection from abuse order, he voluntarily relinquished any license or privilege he had to enter the residence possessed by his wife. The court stated that to allow the defendant to escape liability for burglary would circumvent the purposes of the protective order. It said:

Thus, the court, and the parties, specifically intended the PFA Order to protect Mrs. Majeed and her children from exactly the type of conduct Appellant committed. He forcibly entered the home with the intent to commit a crime or crimes therein. Moreover, his unlawful entry facilitated his harassment of Khadijah. If the only sanction for Appellant's unlawful entry were an indirect criminal contempt, the purpose underlying the Protection from Abuse Act would be frustrated. Instead, application of the law of burglary (and consequential restraint of liberty), under these circumstances, advances the purpose of the Protection from Abuse Act by discouraging domestic violence and unauthorized invasions of the home.

694 A. 2d at 339.

The <u>Majeed</u> court's statements illuminate how a decision to allow a defendant to merely claim that a store was open to the public when he arrived in order to avoid a burglary charge completely defeats the very purpose of a pending restraining order, to prevent the defendant from entering the store and harming the victim!

In State v. Peck, 539 N.W. 2d 170 (Iowa 1995), the court held that the defendant did not have the right, license, or privilege to enter the marital home because of the existence of a restraining order against the defendant. It concluded that by entering the home against the terms of the court order, the defendant exceeded any right to be in the home. Similarly, in People v. Smith, 943 P. 2d 31, 32 (Col. App. 1997), the court found that the defendant unlawfully entered the marital residence, for he was not privileged to do so because of the retraining order against him. See also State v. Gotur, WL568032 App. 1997) (unpublished (Wash. opinion) (right as owner or lessee suspended when barred from property by restraining order).

In this case, Respondent violated the restraining order simply by entering the store. See Section 784.07 (2), Florida Statutes. He committed the crime of burglary, however, when he entered the store contrary to the proscription of the court order with the intent to commit a crime therein. Although the store was open to the general public, Respondent posed an exception to this

authorization or privilege because he had been ordered not to enter. Hence, Respondent failed to show that any authorization to enter the store as part of the public had not been permissibly restricted or withdrawn.

Stated differently, Respondent failed to show that the store was open to the general public which included himself as a member. In <u>State v. Ocean</u>, 546 P. 2d 150 (Or. App. 1975), the court held that where a defendant has been prohibited from entering any store of a retail chain without the permission of an officer of the corporate chain, the defendant is no longer a member of the general public to whom the premises are open. The court, therefore, upheld the defendant's conviction for burglary based on his entering the store with the intent to commit theft inside.

Petitioner urges this court to reach a like result in this case. It submits that if one was not privileged to enter premises because he was not invited, licensed, or a member of the general public in good standing during a time when the premises were open to the public, then upon entry, he has entered the premises unlawfully. In this case, Respondent was explicitly uninvited!

As noted by Judge Hazouri in his dissent, under the majority's interpretation of <u>Miller</u>, had the store owner been standing in front of the store holding a sign directing Respondent not to come in, Respondent still could not be convicted of burglary because the store was otherwise open to the public. The State

suggests that such a result is nonsensical because a property owner should be permitted to withdraw consent to enter his or premises prior to entry. See generally People v. Smith, 943 P. 2d 31, 32 (Col. App. 1997) (verbal warning that restraining order had been obtained prior to actual service sufficient notice that consent to enter marital home had been withdrawn). Hence, the State asks this court to answer the certified question in the affirmative.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE based on the foregoing arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully requests this Honorable Court to answer the certified question in the affirmative, and reverse the decision of the Fourth District affirming the trial court's dismissal of the burglary count, with directions to reinstate the charge.