IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Petitioner,))
VS.)
EUGENE MICHAEL BYARS,)
Respondent.)
)

CASE NO. SC01-1930

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Florida Bar No. 374407 Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

Attorney for Eugene Michael Byars

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

Penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the accused. Either a place is open to the public or it is not open to the public.

Petitioner claims that a defendant must prove "he was a member of the public permitted entry." The Legislature never placed such a requirement in the statute. The Legislature simply wrote that the premises must be open to the public. The premises do not cease to be open to the public because there happens to be a restraining order placed against an individual.

This Court should not review the certified question. Any changes to the burglary statute are best left to the Legislature and not the courts. The Legislature has the ability to give a special definition to "open to the public" or to add language giving an exception to the "open to the public" clause.

The caselaw relied on by Petitioner is not relevant to the present issue regarding "open to the public" exception. The Oregon law, upon which Petitioner relies, gives

3

a specific definition of "open to the public" which the Florida Legislature decided not to use. If Petitioner wishes to have Florida's burglary statute have the same meaning as Oregon's, it should ask the Florida Legislature to amend the burglary statute to match Oregon's burglary statute.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DISMISSING THE BURGLARY CHARGE BECAUSE THE PRE-MISES ENTERED WERE OPEN TO THE PUBLIC.

This brief will discuss Florida's current burglary statute and why changes to the

burglary statute should be enacted by the Legislature and not by the courts.

This case involves analysis of Florida's burglary statute which states that burglary involves entering with the intent to commit an offense <u>unless</u> the premises are open to the public:

810.02. Burglary

(1) Burglary means entering or remaining in a dwelling, a structure, or a conveyance with the intent to commit an offense therein, **unless the premises are at the time open to the public** <u>or</u> the defendant is licensed or invited to enter or remain.

The present issue boils down to whether there are exceptions (such as restraining orders) to the statutory law that a burglary does not occur when entry is at a time that the premises are open to the public.

A simple analysis of the burglary statute shows that the Legislature did not provide any exceptions to the "open to the public" clause of the burglary statute.

The Model Penal Code (upon which Florida's burglary statue is modeled) specifically makes it clear that one cannot be convicted of burglary if the premises are

open to the public even if the owner prohibits the defendant's entrance to the premises:

The language referring to "premises ... open to the public" makes it clear that entry into premises accessible to the public cannot be prosecuted as burglary even if the proprietor sought to restrict the implied license to enter, for example, by posting a notice at the door of a department store that loiterers and shoplifters are forbidden to enter.

Model Penal Code, § 221.1 at 61 (1980); see also State v. Schenck, 452 A.2d 223

(N.J. App. 1992) ("open to the public" restricts prosecution for burglary even if

proprietor restricted those who could enter the premises).¹ This reasoning applies no

matter the form of restriction – whether by restraining order or verbal order. It cannot

legitimately be said that the trial court erred in dismissing the burglary charge.

In Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes (1997), the Legislature mandated that

courts use the following rule of construction in criminal cases:

The provision of this [criminal] code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

¹ New Jersey's burglary statute as discussed in <u>Schenck</u> is very similar to Florida's. The appellate court also stated that where a public place is involved the Code does not seek to punish entry, but punishes the criminal act which occurs after entry. 452 A.2d at 240.

Penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the accused. <u>E.g. Rodriguez</u> <u>v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D2830 (Fla. 3d DCA Dec. 13, 2000); <u>State v. Huggins</u>, 744 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999).

There are 2 clauses that exempt one from burglary – either the premises are open to the public or one is invited or licensed. Under the first clause, a place is open to the public or it is not. Thus, "open to the public" is a complete defense. The Legislature did not write "open to the public except for those who have restraining orders forbidding them to enter." The second clause is separate and has to do with whether one is licensed or invited. If the invitation or license is withdrawn, having been invited or licensed previously is not a defense. Such an analysis does not work with the clause "open to the public." As has been noted, either a place is open to the public or it is not. Miller v. State, 733 So. 2d 955, 957 (Fla. 1999) (quoting Collett v. State, 676 So. 2d 1046 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996)). Consent to enter or remain can be withdrawn, but the fact that the premises are open to the public is still a complete defense. Miller, supra (citing Collett: whether or not there is permission to enter is not relevant).

Petitioner claims that in addition to the structure being "open to the public" a defendant must prove "he was a member of the public permitted entry into the establishment." Petitioner's Brief at 7. This is rewriting of the statute at its finest. The Legislature wrote the clause "open to the public" and did <u>not</u> write "open to the

public and one must be a member of the public which is permitted to enter." As the Fourth District noted, words should not be added or distorted by the courts to reach a certain result. Also, again it must be kept in mind that penal statutes are to be construed in favor of the accused. <u>Rodriguez; Huggins</u>.

After thoroughly analyzing the language of the burglary statute in <u>Miller</u> this Court specifically held that a store being open to the public is a <u>complete defense</u> to a burglary charge regardless of whether consent has been withdrawn. The <u>only</u> issue is whether the premises were open to the public at the time the defendant <u>entered</u> or remained:

> ... we hold that if a defendant can establish that the premises were open to the public, then this is a complete defense. See Collett v. State, 676 So. 2d 1046, 1047 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) ("But premises are either open to the public or they are not, and the fact that persons with criminal intent have not been given permission to enter has no effect on whether premises are open to the public. Otherwise, every time a person entered a structure that was open the public with the intent to commit a crime, the person would have committed a burglary – a result directly in conflict with the express language of section 810.02(1)."); Ray, 522 So. 2d at 967 n.6 ("That the premises are open to the public is a complete defense to a burglary charge"). Whether or not consent may have been withdrawn, either by direct or circumstantial evidence, is not an issue. The only relevant question is whether the premises were open to the public at the time the defendant entered or remained with the intent to commit an offense therein.

733 So. 2d at 957 (emphasis added). In the above quote, this Court cites to <u>Collett v.</u>
<u>State</u>, 676 So. 2d 1046, 1047 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) for the proposition that either the

premises are open to the public or they are not – whether permission to enter exists or not is of no consequence. <u>See also Brown v. State</u>, 731 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995). Likewise, other appellate courts since the <u>Miller</u> decision have recognized that being open to the public is the only relevant question and is a complete defense to burglary. <u>See Harrell v. State</u>, 765 So. 2d 962 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) (complete defense); <u>State v. Butler</u>, 735 So. 2d 481 (Fla. 1999) (complete defense).

When presenting this issue to the Fourth District Court of Appeal in this case, Petitioner claimed, as here, that there was a withdrawal of consent exception to the "open to the public" clause. The District Court rejected such a claim, because in order to reach the result Petitioner requested the Court would have to add or alter the words of the statute which is a job of the Legislature and not the courts:

> While this may seem an untoward result in this case, to construe the statute in the way advocated by the state would require us to disregard some of the statutory language and add words to the statute that the legislature did not include. In construing a statute, courts must follow what the legislature has written and neither add, nor subtract, nor distort the words written. See 62 Cases More or Less, Each Containing Six Jars of Jam v. U.S., 340 U.S. 593, 596, 71 S.Ct. 515, 95 L.Ed.566 (1951); Donato v. American Tel. & Tel. Co., 767 So. 2d 1146, 1150-51 (Fla. 2000) (a court abrogates legislative power when it construes "an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications."); Johnson v. State, 25 Fla. L. weekly D2761, So. 2d____, 2000 WL 1760818 (Fla. 5th DCA Dec. 1, 2000), as clarified by, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D373 (Fla. 5th DCA Feb. 2, 2001). The state would be well advised to address this issue to the legislature.

Petitioner and Amicus argue that a store owner should be able to withdraw consent to enter prior to the entry, and that without applying the burglary statute to the instant situation, Mr. Byars gets off scot-free. There is no dispute that store owners should be able to prohibit entry into their stores. The true issue deals with the laws the Legislature wrote to cover unwarranted entry into a store that is open to the public.² The burglary statute does not fit because the store was open to the public. However, trespass might be available since it does not have an "open to the public" clause. Also, the perpetrator does not go scot-free due to the lack of a burglary conviction – he can be punished for the crime committed after the entry.

In addition, the Legislature has specifically created laws for the instant situation. Under Section 741.31(4)(b)2, Florida Statutes (1997), one who violates the injunction by going to the spouse's "place of employment" is guilty of a first-degree misdemeanor punishable as provided in § 775.082 or § 775.083. Also, Section 784.047(2), Florida Statutes (1997), protects a spouse against violence by going to her "residence, school, or place of employment" in violation of an injunction, and this again is a crime with which Mr. Byars is actually charged R2. The burglary statute

² Judge Hazouri was troubled by the fact that a shop owner could have held a sign prohibiting Mr. Byars from entering his shop and Byars would not be held responsible for ignoring the prohibition and entering the store. The problem is not that the owner's hands are tied in prohibiting entry. However, Mr. Byars can only be found guilty of the crimes clearly articulated by the Legislature. Burglary does not fit because the store was open to the public. Other laws, like trespass, fit this situation. Also, the person would be punished for any crime occurring after the entry.

need not be distorted to cover the instant situation. The Legislature was capable of specifically covering entry of the workplace when there is an injunction.

The Legislature could have created a restraining order exception to the "open to the public" clause, but it did not.³

In this case, there was no dispute below that when Mr. Byars entered the store it was "open to the public." Petitioner and Amicus try to negate the "open to the public" clause by claiming that Mr. Byars was not a member of the "general public." First, the term "general public" does not appear anywhere in the burglary statute. Putting aside the irrelevant term "general public," Petitioner seems to be claiming that, by virtue of a restraining order, Mr. Byars ceased to become a member of the public. Such a claim is specious. There is no authority in Florida stating that people who are restrained by order cease to be members of the public.

Assuming <u>arguendo</u>, that due to a restraining order Mr. Byars ceased to be a member of the public, this fact does not matter. Regardless of whether the owner or an injunction, prohibited Mr. Byars from entering the store, the store was still "open to the public" as the term is commonly used. "Open to the public" defines the status of the store. It is either open to the public or not open to the public. To construe the

³ The Legislature could have created a provision in the statue that the "open to the public" clause does not extend to those who have been specifically prohibited from entering the store by injunction or other means. In other words, an exception to the "open to the public" clause. The Legislature does this frequently. <u>See e.g.</u> § 826.1 Bigamy and § 826.02 exceptions, but did not in the burglary statute.

statute in a way that the store would <u>not</u> be "open to the public" because a restraining order prohibited one person from entering the store would lead to absurd results. Many people would be surprised to learn that the store they were about to enter (Publix, Winn-Dixie, Walmart, K-Mart, etc.) was not open to the public because, unknown to them, and almost everyone else, a lone cashier had a restraining order against her husband. It is absurd to conclude that a restraining order against someone changes the status of a store from being open to the public to <u>not</u> open to the public.

In arguing that the burglary statute should be interpreted in a certain manner due to the domestic injunction, Amicus has been brought in and eloquently points out how special and important the workplace is in domestic cases and how it deserves special protection. The Legislature has provided punishment for violation of a restraining order from the spouse's workplace in § 741.31(4)(a)2. If the Legislature decides that further protection or punishment is required, the Legislature should make the changes and not the courts by distorting statutes. In its opinion the District Court indicated "The State would be well advised to address this issue to the Legislature" – while noting that it is a legislative and not judicial function to add or subtract words from the statute. In its motion for certification, Petitioner indicated that the Legislature would be asked to change the statute, but noted a fear that the Legislature would be unable to make the appropriate change to the statute:

> "While it intends to heed this Court's advice in seeking a legislative remedy, Appellant fears that a mere change in

the statutory language to something like "unprivileged" entry would not serve to resolve this issue..."

Petitioner's Motion for Certified Question at paragraph 4. Thus, while admitting that a legislative remedy is appropriate, Petitioner is seeking to have this Supreme Court (instead of the Legislature) effectively make the changes in the statute. This is a matter best left to the Legislature. If the Legislature cannot properly write the statute, who can? It is not the function of the courts. This Court should not entertain the certified question.

Petitioner claims that the trial court's decision should have been controlled by <u>State v. Woods</u>, 624 So. 2d 739 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) and <u>Corn v. State</u>, 332 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1976). First, both of these cases were decided before <u>Miller</u>. More importantly, neither <u>Woods</u> nor <u>Corn</u> involve the burglary statute. They involve the trespass statute which does <u>not</u> have the "open to the public" exception. The legislature could have written the term "open to the public" within the trespass statute, but chose not to do so. <u>See State v. Huggins</u>, 744 So. 2d 1215 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (legislature could have used certain words in burglary statute if it intended to do so). The phrase "open to the public" must be given meaning. <u>See Vocelle v. Knight Bros. Paper Co.</u>, 118 So. 2d 664, 667 (Fla. 1st DCA 1960) (a statute should be construed so as to give meaning to

every word and phrase in it).⁴ Again, the burglary statute should be interpreted strictly in favor of the accused as in <u>Miller</u>.

Petitioner also cites to the foreign jurisdictions of Oregon and Washington to support its claim that the trial court erred in following <u>Miller</u>. The case primarily relied upon by Petitioner, that the store was not "open to the public" is <u>State v. Ocean</u>, 546 P.2d 150 (Ore. App. 1976). As explained earlier, it makes no sense under Florida law that merely because there is a restraining order against an individual a store ceases to become open to the public. However, under Oregon law it makes sense. Unlike in Florida, the Oregon Legislature gave "open to the public" a specific and unique meaning – that under the circumstances no reasonable person would believe permission to enter or remain was required:

"Open to the public" means premises which by their physical nature, function, custom, usage, notice or lack thereof or other circumstances at the time would cause a reasonable person to believe that no permission to enter or remain is required.

546 P.2d at 152. Florida has no such definition. It should be left to the Legislature rather than the courts to provide a definition which narrows or eliminates a defense. The burglary statutes of Oregon and Washington are different from Florida's burglary

⁴ Thus, Petitioner's claim that the phrase "open to the public" is surplusage and has no significance apart from the public being "invited" into the store (as in the second clause (licensed or invited)) is without merit. "Open to the public" is a complete defense to burglary regardless of the withdrawal of consent.

statute.⁵ Neither Washington's nor Oregon's burglary statute is modeled after the Model Penal Code. It hardly helps to analyze caselaw from foreign jurisdictions that have differently worded statutes and different legislative history. Washington's burglary statute does not contain any clause or exception about the premises being "open to the public." RCWA 9A.52.010(3); 9A.52.030(1). Thus, analysis of Washington's caselaw is not relevant to Florida's burglary statute. Again, Florida's burglary statute and legislative history have been analyzed by the Florida Supreme Court. "Open to the public" is a complete defense to burglary.

Petitioner also cites to a number of cases applying restraining orders to <u>private</u> residences – i.e. places <u>not</u> open to the public. These cases are simply irrelevant to this case. However, for academic purposes, Respondent would point out that Petitioner's and Amicus' discussion of restraining orders and private places is less than fully accurate. For example, <u>State v. Suarez-Mesa</u>, 662 So. 2d 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) is cited to show that a husband is guilty of burglary of his home when there is a restraining order against him. However, a later opinion held that the issue involving

⁵ Based on a specific legislative history, in Oregon one will be guilty of burglary if at the time of entry the premises were <u>not</u> open to the public or one is <u>not</u> privileged or licensed. <u>State v. Ocean</u>, 546 P.2d 150, 151 (Ore. App. 1976). Whereas, Florida delineates exceptions to what constitutes burglary – unless open to the public (without mention of whether one is invited or uninvited) or when one is invited or licensed. Thus, in Oregon one is guilty if not privileged (regardless of whether the premises are opened or closed) and in Florida one is not guilty if the premises are open to the public (regardless of whether one is invited or not invited).

a restraining order is not so simple and held that under its facts the husband did not commit a burglary in entering the home in violation of the restraining order. <u>Whetstone v. State</u>, 778 So. 2d 338 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (unrelated issue involving standard of review receded from in <u>Jones v. State</u>, 790 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)). The cases of <u>Suarez-Mesa</u> and <u>Whetstone</u> are not in conflict. Entering a residence in violation of a restraining order may (<u>Suarez-Mesa</u>) or may not (<u>Whetstone</u>) be a burglary depending on the circumstances. Again, these cases along with the other out-of-state cases, do not involve the present "open to the public" issue.

CONCLUSION

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